2001

Joseph Bradbury v. State of Utah, Division of Wildlife Resources : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-16(1), Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(a), and R657-2-23.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issues for Review.

There are four main questions to be resolved in this appeal:

(1) Did the Division of Wildlife Resources (Division) improperly interpret Utah Code Ann. §23-13-36(a)?

(2) Did the Utah Wildlife Board (Board) at the hearing on appeal improperly go beyond the scope of the original hearing in violation of Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-12 and §63-46b-16(4)(e)?

(3) Was the revocation of Bradbury's hunting license improperly based on a guilty plea to a defective Information?

(4) Did the Board improperly interpret and apply the terms "flagrantly" and "knowingly" as used in Utah Code Ann. §23-19-9?

Standards of Review.

Administrative decisions based on formal administrative proceedings are reviewed under Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-16. Statutory interpretations by agencies are reviewed under a correction-of-error standard, giving no deference to the agency's interpretation, unless the statute grants to the agency the discretion to interpret the statute. *WWC*

Holding Co. v. Public Service Comm., 2002 Ut 23, ¶8, 442 Utah Adv. Rep. 8, 10;
Florence v. Dept. of Workforce Services, 2001 Ut App 323, ¶6, 35 P.3d 1148, 1149 . The
appellate court may grant relief from an agency action if the agency has erroneously
interpreted the law. Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-16(4)(d).

When an agency's ruling is based in part on law and in part on fact, the agency
must necessarily exercise a degree of discretion, and the appellate court defers to the
agency's determination. The agency's ruling will not be upset unless it is unreasonable or
arbitrary. *Chicago Bridge & Iron Co. v. State Tax Comm'n*, 839 P.2d 303, 306 (Utah
1992). When challenging factual findings, the appellant has the burden of marshaling all
of the evidence supporting the findings and then, despite the supporting facts, showing
that the findings are not supported by substantial evidence. *WWC Holding Co., supra*, ¶8,
at 10. Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-16(4)(g) permits granting relief to an appellant who has
been substantially prejudiced if the agency action is based upon a determination of fact,
made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when
viewed in light of the whole record before the court. *See also Westside Dixon Associates*
v. Utah Power & Light, 2002 Ut 31, ¶8, 443 Utah Adv. Rep. 37, 38.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES¹

Utah Code Annotated §23-13-2(12)(a) (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Code Annotated §23-13-2(36)(a) & (e) (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Code Annotated §23-19-5 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Code Annotated §23-19-9 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Code Annotated §23-20-4 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Code Annotated §76-2-103 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Administrative Rule R657-2-21 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Administrative Rule R657-5-2(n) (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Administrative Rule R657-26-2(2):

R657-26-2 Definitions.

(1) Terms used in this rule are defined in Section 23-13-2.

(2) In addition:

(a) “Flagrantly” means an act in violation of Title 23, Wildlife Resources Code committed in a manner that, in the opinion of the presiding officer, is conspicuously bad or offensive.

(b) “Knowingly” means, with respect to the nature or result of a person’s conduct, that the person was aware, or should have been aware, that the conduct was reasonably certain to cause the result.

Utah Administrative Rule R657-26-5 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

Utah Administrative Rule R657-26-8 (Set forth in full in the Addendum)

¹ All citations to statutes and rules cited are to the versions as they existed in 1999.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal of an Order of the Utah Wildlife Board revoking the Utah big game hunting privileges of Joseph J. Bradbury for five years.

Course of the Proceedings.

On June 29, 2000, the Division issued to Bradbury a “Notice of Agency Action.” A hearing on the Notice was held on November 29, 2000, Ms. Debbie Sundell, an employee of the Division, presided as the hearing officer. A “Decision and Order” was entered by the hearing officer on January 2, 2001. The Decision and Order revoked Bradbury’s big game hunting privileges for five years.

An appeal of the Decision and Order was filed by Bradbury on January 30, 2001. The Board held a formal administrative hearing on May 17, 2001. On September 26, 2001, the Board issued an Order affirming the suspension of Bradbury’s hunting privileges for five years.

An appeal of the Order of the Board was filed in the Utah Court of Appeals on October 24, 2001.

Statement of the Facts.

a. From 1993 to 1998 Bradbury obtained Idaho resident hunting licenses using the Idaho address of the Almost Home Day Care Center, owned by his sister. (T.22-23).

b. In 1997, Bradbury applied for and obtained a Utah nonresident limited entry

Book Cliffs Elk Permit. (T.23).

c. On the application for the Utah nonresident permit, Bradbury gave the address and phone number for the Almost Home Day Care Center in Idaho. (T.23, 67, 85).

d. At the time Bradbury applied for the nonresident permit, he was domiciled in Utah as that term is defined in Utah Code Ann. §23-13-2(12)(a) and used in Utah Code Ann. §23-13-36(a)(i). (R.00012).

e. At the time Bradbury applied for the nonresident permit, he claimed residency in Utah for all purposes other than for hunting privileges. (T.70).

f. At the time Bradbury applied for the nonresident permit, he claimed residency in Idaho for hunting purposes. (T.85).

g. On September 29, 1997, Bradbury shot a six-point bull elk in the limited entry Book Cliffs area. (T.26, R.00077).

h. On April 8, 1999, Officer Jack Topham completed a “Utah Division of Wildlife Resources Investigative Report” regarding the incident. (R. 00075-79).

i. On October 1, 1999, a criminal Information was filed against Bradbury in the Eighth Judicial District Court, Uintah County, Utah. (R. 00033-34).

j. On December 15, 1999, Bradbury pled guilty to Count I of the Information charging him with a violation of Utah Code Annotated §23-20-4, “wanton destruction of wildlife,” a Class A Misdemeanor. Count 2 of the Information charging “Fraudulently Obtaining License, Permit, Tag or Certificate in violation of 23-19-5, was dismissed.

(R.00035-36).

k. The date of the offense set forth in the Information (March 29, 1999) was incorrect. (T.48-49).

l. On September 23, 1999, Bradbury plead guilty in the Seventh District Court, Bonneville County, Idaho, to three counts of purchasing the wrong class of hunting license or tag. (R.00098).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant Bradbury claims that the Division improperly interpreted Utah Code Ann. §23-13-36(2)(a) in finding that he was a resident of Utah *for hunting purposes*. He also claims that the Board at the hearing on appeal improperly went beyond the scope of the original hearing in violation of Utah Code Ann. §63-46b-12 and §63-46b-16(4)(e). Bradbury further claims that his hunting license revocation was improperly based on a guilty plea to an admittedly defective Information. Finally, Bradbury claims that the Board improperly interpreted and applied the terms “flagrantly” and “knowingly.”

Point I. Bradbury was a non-resident of Utah for hunting purposes.

Issue:

Did Mr. Bradbury qualify as a non-resident of Utah under Utah Code Ann. §23-13-2(36)(a) so as to entitle him to purchase a non-resident Utah hunting license?

Rules of construction:

In construing a statute, the fundamental starting point is the language of the statute

itself. *State v. Gonzales*, 2000 Ut App 136, ¶14, 2 P.3d 954, 958. When interpreting a legislative enactment, the court's primary role is to give effect to the legislature's intent as set forth in the statute's plain language. *State ex rel. Office of Recovery Services v. McCoy*, 2000 Ut 39, ¶9, 999 P.2d 572, 547. The legislature is presumed to know the meaning of words, and to have used the words of a statute advisedly, and to have given effect to each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning. *Alpine School District v. State Tax Commission*, 2000 Ut App 319, ¶12, 14 P.3d 125, 129. Where the language of a statute is unambiguous, the Court does not look beyond the language's plain meaning to divine legislative intent. *Adkins v. Uncle Bart's Inc.*, 2000 Ut 14, ¶24, 1 P.3d 528, 533. The best evidence of the true intent and purpose of the Legislature in enacting an Act is the plain language of the Act. *Sorensen's Ranch School v. Oram*, 2001 Ut App 354, ¶1, 36 P.3d 528, 531.

That the parties disagree about the meaning of a statute does not make the statute ambiguous; the statute is ambiguous only if it can be understood by reasonably well-informed persons to have different meanings. *Provo City v. Cannon*, 1999 Ut App 344, ¶6, 994 P.2d 206, 208; *State v. Beason*, 2000 Ut App 109, ¶19, 2 P.3d 459, 463.

Generally, the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another (*expressio unius est exclusion alterius*). *Black's Law Dictionary* 581 (6th Ed. 1990); *Biddle v. Washington Terrace City*, 993 P.2d 875, 879 (Utah 1999). As stated in *Monson v. Carver*, 928 P.2d 1017, 1025 (Utah 1996), "... in the natural association of ideas the contrast between a

specific subject matter which is expressed and one which is not mentioned leads to an inference that the latter was not intended to be included within the statute.” Stated differently, where the legislature has specifically used a term in a certain place within a statute and excluded it in another place, the courts will not read that term into the excluded section. *Banks v. Arizona State Bd. of Pardons*, 129 Ariz. 199, 629 P.2d 1035 (Ariz.App. 1981). “It is not within the province of a court in the course of construction of a statute, to make or supervise legislation.” 73 AmJur 2d 394, *Statutes*, §197. “A statute may not, under the guise of interpretation, be modified, revised, amended, distorted, remodeled, or rewritten, or given a construction of which its words are not susceptible, or which is repugnant to its terms. *Id.*

Applicable law:

This case turns almost entirely on the proper interpretation of U.C.A. §23-13-2(36)(a), which provides:

- (36)(a) “Resident” means a person who:
- (i) has been domiciled in the state of Utah for six consecutive months immediately preceding the purchase of a license; and
 - (ii) does not claim residency for hunting, fishing or trapping in any other state or country.

The definition of resident in Administrative Rule R657-5-2(n)(i) is nearly identical:

- “Resident” for purposes of this rule means a person who:
- (A) has been domiciled in the state of Utah for six consecutive months immediately preceding the purchase of a license or permit; and

(B) does not claim residency for hunting, fishing, or trapping in any other state or country.

The term “domicile” is defined in Utah Code. Ann. §23-13-2(12)(a) as follows:

“Domicile” means the place:

- (i) where an individual has a fixed permanent home and principal establishment;
- (ii) to which the individual if absent, intends to return; and
- (iii) in which the individual and the individual’s family voluntarily reside, not for a special or temporary purpose, but with the intention of making a permanent home.

The term “domicile” is not defined in the Administrative Rules.

Application of law to facts:

Under the plain language of Utah Code Ann. §23-13-2(36), Bradbury was a non-resident of Utah for hunting purposes. He was domiciled in Utah during the period in question, thus satisfying the requirement in subsection (i). It is undisputed that at the same time he did indeed *claim* residency in Idaho for hunting purposes. Therefore, he did not fall under the definition of “resident” as plainly set forth in subsection 36(a). Because Bradbury was not a “resident” of Utah *for hunting purposes*, he was entitled to purchase a non-resident big-game license. (Interestingly, if Mr. Bradbury had purchased a Utah resident license, having already obtained an Idaho resident license, the Utah license would have been invalid under §23-13-3(36)(e)).

The final Order makes much of the fact that Mr. Bradbury was convicted in Idaho of unlawfully purchasing resident hunting licenses, (R. 00003, 00005, 00006), and that

Mr. Bradbury's claim of Idaho residency "was a misrepresentation." (R.00005).

However, nothing in the Utah Statute *mandates* that one must actually be successful in claiming residency in another state. The fact that Mr. Bradbury may have run afoul of the stricter definition of "resident" in Idaho is of no consequence. (See R.00108 for the equivalent Idaho statute). If anything, the Idaho conviction is the *proof* that Mr. Bradbury claimed residency in another state for hunting purposes.²

The Board made much of the fact that because Bradbury actually lived in Utah and claimed Utah residency for business, tax and voting purposes, he was indeed a resident of Utah. (R.00002). However, under §23-13-2(12)(a), these would be criteria for determining "domicile," not residency. The Division consistently intermixes and confuses the two terms.

Next, the Board suggests that Bradbury was not a legal resident of Idaho. (R.00002). It points to the fact that he pled guilty to a charge in Idaho of illegally purchasing an Idaho big game license. However, §23-13-2(36) does not *mandate* that a person be a resident of another state, only that he *claim* residency in another state. Indeed,

² From the inception Mr. Bradbury indicated that because he had already purchased a resident big-game license in Idaho, he knew that he was not entitled to purchase a resident tag in Utah. The investigating officer's initial report states that "[h]e said that he justified purchasing resident Idaho licenses and then paying the higher nonresident license fees in Utah, believing that he was doing nothing wrong because he was only claiming residency in one state, Idaho." (R.00077). *See also* Bradbury's initial response to the Notice of Agency Action, where he states: "I didn't feel that I could buy a resident tag in Utah if I had decided to hunt as a resident in Idaho." (R.00053). And finally, the State verified this idea with Mr. Bradbury at the hearing. (T. 85, lines 11-16).

it is undisputed that Bradbury *claimed* residency in Idaho for hunting purposes.

Additionally, nothing in §23-13-2(36) addresses whether the claim of residency in another state has to be legitimate.

The Board also found that Bradbury violated Utah Code Ann. §23-19-5, (R.00005-6), which states in part: “It is unlawful for any person to obtain or attempt to obtain a license, permit, tag ... by fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. It is unlawful for a resident to purchase a nonresident license.” However, this position “begs the question.” If indeed Bradbury was not a resident of Utah for hunting purposes, then he did not obtain a license by fraud, deceit or misrepresentation and did not unlawfully purchase a non-resident license. Further, there was a dismissal in the Uintah County proceeding of the count that alleged this very violation. (T. 00033, 00035, 00068, 00070).

The Board found that Bradbury made a misrepresentation when signing the Utah non-resident license application by listing an Idaho address as his residence. (R.00005). The Board again disregards the fact that Bradbury was “claiming” residency in another state “for hunting purposes.”

Finally, the Board finds that “Bradbury’s acts do not circumvent the law’s intent to prevent a person from obtaining nonresident hunting privileges through misrepresentation.” (R.00005). This statement again begs the question. To be sure, §23-19-5 prohibits “residents” from purchasing non-resident hunting tags. However, one must look back to the definition of “resident” to determine who it is that could violate this

section.

No matter what argument the State makes, all roads lead back to an interpretation of §23-13-2(36). Under the plain language of that section, and pursuant to the undisputed facts in this matter, Mr. Bradbury was not a “resident,” as that term is used in any of the sections of the Wildlife Resources Code.

Conclusion:

Because the Board improperly found that Bradbury did not qualify as a non-resident for hunting purposes, it wrongfully suspended his hunting privileges. The Order of the Board should be reversed and Bradbury’s hunting privileges should be reinstated.

**Point II. The Board erred in the manner of conducting the
hearing on appeal and in the scope of its final Order.**

Issue:

Bradbury claims that the Board erred by considering matters on appeal which were not stated in the “Notice of Agency Action,” and which were not part of the hearing officer’s Order.

Rules for the conduct of hearings:

Appeals of decisions of hearing officers revoking hunting privileges is governed by Utah Code Ann. §23-19-9(12). The Board is limited to a review of “the hearing officer’s findings and conclusions and any written documentation submitted at the hearing.” §23-19-9(12)(b). The procedure governing the Board’s review is set out in

R657-26-8. That rule provides that “any review of a presiding officer's decision shall be strictly limited to the matter specified in the order.” R657-26-8(8).

Rule R657-26-8(5) states that on appeal, “the Wildlife Board shall hold a formal hearing in accordance with the provisions of Section 63-46b-6 through Section 63-46b-10.” A formal hearing was held in this case. (T.00004).

Nothing in any of the governing statutes or rules suggests that the hearing on an appeal of an order revoking a hunting license is to be conducted as a hearing or trial de novo. The cited statutes and rules, in fact, strictly limit the scope of review.

Applicable law:

To commence a license revocation, the Division is required to give “written notice of an action the division intends to take.” Utah Code Ann. §23-19-9(7)(a). The written notice is given in the form of a “notice of agency action.” R657-26-3(1)(a). This is the document that “guides the content of these proceedings.” (T.00081, L.25.)

Application of law to facts:

Paragraph 2 of the Notice of Agency Action alleged Bradbury’s guilty plea and conviction in the Uintah County Justice Court of violating Utah Code Ann. §23-20-4, and that he “knowingly and flagrantly committed the acts that resulted in the aforementioned conviction.” Paragraph 3 of the “Notice of Agency Action” specifically stated that the “purpose of this proceeding is to determine whether the facts underlying the criminal conviction were committed knowingly and flagrantly.”(T.00055).