2001

# Joseph Bradbury v. State of Utah, Division of Wildlife Resources : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**II. THE WILDLIFE BOARD DID NOT ERR IN THE MANNER IT CONDUCTED THE ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING ON APPEAL OR IN THE SCOPE OF EVIDENCE CONSIDERED.**

Appellant charges the Wildlife Board with a number of procedural deficiencies in the manner it conducted his administrative hearing on appeal and in the evidence considered. Specifically, he alleges the Wildlife Board did not have authority to conduct a de novo review of the Division of Wildlife Resources administrative order and it considered evidence beyond the scope of the Notice of

Agency Action. A brief overview of the Division's license suspension process may be helpful in understanding the issues.

The Division's administrative license suspension proceedings are initiated with a Notice of Agency Action prepared and served on the licensee as required in Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-3(2) (1997) and Utah Admin. Code R657-26-3 (1999).<sup>2</sup> The licensee may request and receive an informal hearing before the Division's administrative hearing officer. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5 (1997); Utah Admin. Code R657-26-4 and 5 (1999). Upon conclusion of the informal hearing, the hearing officer issues an administrative order stating the decision with a notice of the right to appeal to the Wildlife Board. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-5 (1997); Utah Admin. Code R657-26-6 (1999). The Wildlife Board considers all license suspension appeals from orders of the Division's administrative hearing officer by conducting a de novo, formal adjudicative hearing pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-8 (1997) and Utah Admin. Code R657-26-8 (1999). The Wildlife Board's decision and order may be appealed to the Utah Court of Appeals for a review of the record. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16 (1997).

---

<sup>2</sup> Utah Admin. Code R657-26 was amended effective October 17, 2001. The rule effective during Appellant's administrative license suspension proceedings before the Division and the Wildlife Board is attached as Addendum B. All future references to this rule chapter, unless otherwise stated, will refer to that attached as Addendum B.

A. The Wildlife Board's De Novo Review of the Division's Initial Administrative Order Should be Upheld.

1. To the Extent Appellant Challenges the Wildlife Board's Authority to Conduct a De Novo Review of the Division's Administrative Suspension Order, He Failed to Object to this Issue Below and has Waived the Right to Appeal it.

"The general rule is that objections or questions not raised or urged in an agency proceeding are considered waived and will not be considered by a court on review." Esquivel v. Labor Commission of Utah, 7 P.3d 777, 783 (Utah 2000); Brown & Root Indus. Service v. Industrial Commission, 947 P.2d 671, 677 (Utah 1997); Alvin G. Rhodes Pump Sales v. Industrial Commission, 681 P.2d 1244, 1249 (Utah 1984).

At the beginning of the Wildlife Board's May 17, 2001 formal hearing on Appellant's license suspension appeal, the Board Chairman specifically stated that the hearing would be formal and conducted pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act. (R. 118 at 4). He further stated that both parties would be afforded the opportunity to present evidence, call witnesses, call rebuttal witnesses, and cross-examine adverse witnesses. (R. 118 at 5-6). Moreover, counsel for the Division argued at the hearing on Appellant's objection to the introduction of certain evidence and in closing argument that the Wildlife Board's hearing was a de novo review of the Division's administrative hearing officer's decision. (R. 118 at 78, 98). However, the record is void of any objection by

Appellant challenging the Wildlife Board's legal authority to conduct a de novo review of the Division's administrative order. Appellant's failure to raise this issue before the Wildlife Board at his May 17, 2001 hearing precludes him from now raising it on appeal.

2. The Wildlife Board's Review of the Division's Initial Administrative Order was Appropriately Conducted as a De Novo Review.

Appellant asserts Utah Code Ann. § 23-19-9(12)(b) (1998) and Utah Admin. Code R657-26-8(8) (1999) confine the Wildlife Board's administrative review of the Division's license suspension proceedings to a review of the record. However, the two sections simply direct the Wildlife Board to review the basis underlying the Division's decision to suspend hunting privileges. Nothing in these sections explicitly dictates the manner of review.

The Division's authority to suspend hunting privileges is found in Utah Code Ann. §23-19-9 (1998).<sup>3</sup> The Wildlife Board is specifically charged with responsibility in Section 23-19-9(12)(b) to "review the [division] hearing officer's findings and conclusions and any documentation submitted at the hearing." The Wildlife Board is further granted authority in Section 23-19-9(13) to "make rules to implement this section in accordance with Title 63, Chapter 46b, Administrative

---

<sup>3</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 23-19-9 was amended by the Legislature effective April 30, 2001. The section effective during Appellant's administrative hearings and appeals is attached as Addendum A. All future references to this code section, unless otherwise stated, will refer to that attached as Addendum A.

Procedures Act.” Pursuant to its rule making authority, the Wildlife Board promulgated a rule designating its review proceedings as formal adjudicative hearings to be conducted in accordance with the Utah Administrative Procedures Act. See Utah Admin. Code R657-26-8(5). Although the rule does not specifically identify the review proceeding as de novo,<sup>4</sup> the nature of a formal hearing envisions, if not necessitates it.

Formal adjudicative proceedings grant the parties the right to present evidence, argue, respond, conduct cross-examination, and submit rebuttal evidence. See Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-8(1). The presiding officer is further charged to “regulate the course of the hearing to obtain full disclosure of relevant facts and to afford all parties reasonable opportunity to present their positions.” Id. The presiding officer may exclude irrelevant or immaterial evidence, shall exclude privileged evidence, may receive documentary evidence, and may take official notice of evidence capable of judicial notice under the Utah Rules of Evidence. Id. Lastly, formal hearings must be recorded to preserve a record for appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals. Id. A formal adjudicative hearing, as described in Section 63-46b-8, in no way resembles a review of the record.

---

<sup>4</sup> The amended Utah Admin. Code R657-26, effective October 17, 2001, codifies the former practice of de novo hearings by specifically stating in R657-26-8(5) that Wildlife Board license suspension review proceedings are formal and de novo.

Indeed, a transcript of the Division's administrative hearing is not provided to the Wildlife Board for review at its formal appeal hearing.

This Court in a similar case, Cordova v. Blackstock, 861 P.2d 449 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), concluded that judicial review of an informal administrative hearing required a de novo review as opposed to a review of the record. Among the reasons cited in support of the decision, was the need to prepare a complete record at the district court level since the next level of appeal went to the Court of Appeals. Id. at 452. Informal proceedings are less likely to result in an adequate record. Id. De novo review of an informal agency proceeding ensures that an adequate record will be created and further provides an opportunity to correct deficiencies. Id. "Only then can this state's appellate courts properly review an informal administrative proceeding." Id. For the reasons stated in Cordova, the Wildlife Board must likewise conduct its review of the Division's informal license suspension proceedings de novo in a formal hearing to prepare an adequate record for review by the appellate courts of this state.<sup>5</sup>

B. The Wildlife Board Did Not Consider Matters Beyond the Scope of the Notice of Agency Action.

The Notice of Agency Action commencing the Division's informal license suspension proceeding against Appellant states in part:

---

<sup>5</sup> Judicial review of formal adjudicative proceedings is made to the Utah Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16 (1997).



The Division alleges that on December 15, 1999, Respondent pled guilty and was convicted in the Uintah County Justice Court of violating Utah Code Ann. § 23-20-4, a Class A Misdemeanor, Criminal Case Number 991800274. Respondent shot and killed a bull elk with a Non-resident Limited Entry Book Cliffs Elk Permit when he was a resident of Utah.

The purpose of this proceeding is to determine whether the facts underlying the criminal conviction were committed knowingly and flagrantly.

Under Rule 8(e)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, “pleadings shall be simple, concise, and direct.” Technical forms of pleading are not required. Id. Moreover, “[a]ll pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial justice.” See Rule 8(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. “In a notice pleading jurisdiction like Utah, rule 8(a) ‘is to be liberally construed when determining the sufficiency of plaintiff’s complaint.’” Consolidated Reality Group v. Sizzling Platter, Inc., 930 P.2d 268, 275 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (quoting Gill v. Timm, 720 P.2d 1352, 1353 (Utah 1986)). “The days of strict adherence to draconian formalities at the pleading stage are over.” Id. The fundamental purpose of the liberalized pleading rules is to afford the opposing party fair notice of the claims lodged against him and the facts upon which the claims rest. Id. ; Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co., 656 P.2d 966, 971 (Utah 1982). Although the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure may not specifically apply to pleadings in administrative adjudications, applying a more stringent pleading requirement in less formal

administrative proceedings than in a formal judicial adjudication is counterintuitive.

Moreover, the Utah Supreme Court has recognized liberal pleading requirements in administrative proceedings. “Generally, administrative pleadings are to be liberally construed. . . .” Pilcher v. State Dept. of Social Services, 663 P.2d 450, 453 (Utah 1983).

Appellant asserts the Wildlife Board erred by allowing the introduction of and considering evidence regarding his Utah conviction of Wanton Destruction of Protected Wildlife, Idaho convictions of unlawfully purchasing resident hunting licenses, acquiring an Idaho drivers license, and listing a false Idaho address and phone number on his 1997 Utah nonresident limited entry elk license application. Appellant alleges all these facts are beyond the scope of the Notice of Agency Action.

The Notice of Agency Action succinctly summarizes its scope in stating; “[t]he purpose of this proceeding is to determine whether the facts underlying the criminal conviction were committed knowingly and flagrantly.” Appellant’s conviction in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Utah for violating Utah Code Ann. § 23-20-4 is an essential element prerequisite to suspending his hunting privileges. See Utah Code Ann. § 23-19-9(5). The Notice clearly identifies the Utah criminal conviction as a matter pertinent to the administrative action. The Notice further identifies the other element necessary before suspension of

hunting privileges is permitted. The Division must establish that the facts underlying the criminal conviction were committed “knowingly” and “flagrantly”.  
See Utah Code Ann. § 23-19-9(1)(a).

Appellant maintained in the hearing before the Wildlife Board that his purchase of a Utah nonresident bull elk license was innocent, that he was not aware it was illegal. (R. 118 at 42,85). The Division carries the burden of proof in license suspension proceedings before the Wildlife Board and must establish the criminal violation was committed “knowingly” and “flagrantly.” Moreover, Appellant’s Utah conviction of illegally killing a bull elk in 1997 is premised upon using an unlawfully obtained and invalid nonresident license. The nonresident license was obtained in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 23-19-5 which prohibits using fraud, deceit or misrepresentation in obtaining a license and further enjoins residents from purchasing nonresident licenses.

Evidence pertaining to Appellant’s Idaho convictions of fraudulently acquiring resident hunting licenses was relevant and necessary to establish that his claim of residency in that state was spurious. Otherwise, his claim of Idaho residency would be presumed valid and his purchase of a Utah nonresident hunting license deemed legal. The evidence further shows a scheme of deception in both states which goes to the knowing and flagrant requirement.

Evidence pertaining to Appellant’s unlawful acquisition of an Idaho drivers license also shows he was not an Idaho resident. It further shows a scheme to

defraud both states in obtaining hunting licenses. Appellant frankly admits that he acquired the Idaho drivers license to facilitate obtaining Idaho resident hunting licenses. (R. 118 at 70).

Lastly, evidence of Appellant listing a false Idaho address and phone number on his 1997 Utah nonresident limited entry bull elk license application strikes right to the heart of his defense. Listing an Idaho address, phone number and drivers license number on his Utah application supports the conclusion that Appellant was attempting to avoid raising red flags and conceal from the Division his true Utah residency status. These acts are inconsistent with Appellant's testimony that he believed obtaining a nonresident hunting license in Utah was legitimate. Appellant offered no explanation why he listed a false address and phone number in violation of Section 23-19-5.

The Wildlife Board did not err in admitting and considering the evidence complained of by Appellant. The hearing was administrative where relaxed rules of evidence and procedure apply, the Notice of Agency Action fairly and adequately put Appellant on notice of the claims lodged against him, and the evidence was relevant to the issues before the Wildlife Board.

C. The Wildlife Board Did Not Consider Matters Beyond the Scope of the Division's Administrative Decision.

Appellant asserts the Wildlife Board erroneously admitted and considered the evidence discussed in Section II. B. of this Brief since it was outside the

Division's administrative decision. This assertion is simply inaccurate. The Division's January 2, 2001 administrative decision suspending Appellant's big game hunting privileges for a period of five years makes the following findings and conclusions: 1) Appellant obtained an Idaho drivers license and claimed to be an Idaho resident for purposes of hunting and fishing; 2) he was domiciled in Utah; 3) he applied for and obtained in 1997 a Utah nonresident limited entry bull elk license; 4) he took a six point bull elk in 1997; 5) he was prosecuted and convicted in Idaho for purchasing resident hunting licenses; and 6) he obtained the Utah 1997 nonresident limited entry bull elk license by fraud, deceit and misrepresentation in violation of Section § 23-19-5. (R. 18).

The evidence complained of by Appellant was all referenced in the Division's January 2, 2001 administrative decision. Furthermore, the evidence was relevant to the Wildlife Board's decision and properly considered for the same reasons specified in Section II. B. of this Brief. The Wildlife Board's formal de novo hearing on the Division's decision reviewed its findings and conclusions and strictly confined itself to the matters specified therein in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 23-19-9(12)(b) and Utah Admin. Code R657-26-8(8).

### **III. THE WILDLIFE BOARD PROPERLY FOUND APPELLANT'S CONDUCT KNOWING AND FLAGRANT.**

Appellant challenges two aspects of the Wildlife Board's determination that his conduct in unlawfully acquiring a 1997 Utah nonresident limited entry

bull elk license was knowing and flagrant. First, the Wildlife Board is charged with error in relying upon the definition of “knowingly” found in Utah Admin. Code R657-26-2(2)(b) (1999). Second, the Wildlife Board is charged with having insufficient evidence in the record to conclude Appellant’s conduct was knowing and flagrant.

A. The Definition of “Knowingly” in Utah Administrative Code R657-26-2(2)(b) Should be Sustained as Valid.

Appellant correctly notes the definition of “knowingly” in Utah Admin. Code R657-26-2(2)(b) is not identical to the definition of “knowingly” in the criminal code, Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-103(2) (1995). The assertion that this difference in definition is reversible error, however, was not raised to the Wildlife Board at hearing and is substantively without merit in any event.

1. Appellant Waived the Right to Challenge the Validity of Utah Administrative Code R657-26-2(2)(b) by Failing to Raise the Matter at His Hearing with the Wildlife Board.

Appellant’s challenge to the definition of “knowingly” found in Utah Admin. Code R657-26-2(2)(b) was not raised or argued to the Wildlife Board at the hearing on May 17, 2001. Three references exist in the entire record relating to this matter: 1) Appellant’s Demand for the Return of Personal Property filed with the Division (R. 37) attaches copies of the relevant code and rule provisions without discussion or argument (R. 41); 2) the same Demand appearing as an

Exhibit to the Wildlife Board hearing<sup>6</sup> (R. 113, 117); and 3) Appellant's written Appeal to the Wildlife Board from the Division's January 2, 2001 decision briefly raises the issue. (R. 13). Nevertheless, the matter is never raised, discussed or argued to the Wildlife Board at its May 17, 2001 hearing by Appellant or anyone else.

As stated in Section I of this Brief, "[t]he general rule is that objections or questions not raised or urged in an agency proceeding are deemed waived and will not be considered by a court on review." Esquivel, 7 P.3d at 783; Brown & Root Indus. Service, 947 P.2d at 677; Alvin G. Rhodes Pump Sales, 681 P.2d at 1249. The fact Appellant challenged the definition of "knowingly" in his written appeal to the Wildlife Board does not itself entitle him to raise the issue now on appeal. The Utah Supreme Court in Zions First National Bank v. National American Title Insurance Company, 749 P.2d 651, 657 (Utah 1988) held that a defense raised in pleadings but not argued to the trial court is waived on appeal. "This Court will not consider on appeal issues which were not submitted to the trial court and concerning which the trial court did not have the opportunity to make any findings of fact or law." Id. (quoting Turtle Management, Inc. v. Haggis Management, Inc., 645 P.2d 667, 672 (Utah 1982)).

---

<sup>6</sup> This document was admitted upon Appellant's request to make all the Division hearing officer's file an exhibit in the Wildlife Board hearing. (R. 118 at 58). No further discussion took place at the Wildlife Board hearing regarding it.

Likewise, Appellant's challenge to the definition of "knowingly" found in Utah Admin. Code R657-26-2(2)(b) should not be considered on appeal since it was not raised at the Wildlife Board hearing on May 17, 2001.

2. Alternatively, the Definition of "Knowingly" in Utah Administrative Code R657-26-2(2)(b) is Valid.

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